I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

When an officer or director breaches his fiduciary duty and 

acquires an advantage for himself, "the law charges the interest so 

acquired with a trust for the benefit of the corporation, . ,. [and] it denies 

to the betrayer all benefit and profit." Guth v. Loft, Inc., 5 A.2d 503, 510 

(Del. 1939). That remedy has two components: disgorgement and 

restitution. "Disgorgement wrests ill-gotten gains from the hands of a 

wrongdoer." Edmonson v. Lincoln Nat 'I Life Ins. Co., 725 F.3d 406, 415 

n.3 (3d Cir. 2013). Restitution compensates the victim. It is awarded "in 

the form of a constructive trust or an equitable lien, where ... property ... 

could clearly be traced to particular funds or property in the defendant's 

possession." Great W. Life & Annuity Ins. Co. v. Knudson, 534 U.S. 204, 

210, 122 S. Ct. 708, 151 L. Ed. 2d 635 (2002) (citations omitted). 

Restitution is not defeated by transferring the property subject to a 

constructive trust to a third party. The transferee 

[t]akes the property subject to the trust, unless he has 
purchased the property for value and without notice of the 
fiduciary'S breach of duty. The trustee or beneficiaries may 
then maintain an action for restitution of the property (if not 
already disposed of) or disgorgement of proceeds (if 
already disposed of), and disgorgement of the third 
person's profits derived therefrom. 

Harris Trust & Sav. Bank v. Salomon Smith Barney Inc., 530 U.S. 238, 

250, 120 S. Ct. 2180, 147 L. Ed. 2d 187 (2000) (citing Restatement 
1 



(Second) of Trusts §§ 284, 291, 294, 295, 297 (1959)). Appellants seek 

reversal of the trial court's failure to apply these well-settled principles. 

Jd. 

The predicate fiduciary breach was established by Judge Robert 

Alsdorf (ret.) in an arbitration between Ronald and Sally Worman and 

Dana Green: Green committed "constructive fraud" and "substantial 

violations of fiduciary duty" by wrongfully taking "a valuable business 

opportunity" that belonged to The Sage Group I, LLC ("The Sage 

Group"), a consulting firm owned by Green and the Wormans. CP 44, 59-

60. The opportunity, which Ronald Worman and Erik Van Alstine helped 

create, was a new business called SagelKotter, LLC. CP 37-39. By taking 

that opportunity from The Sage Group and acquiring an ownership interest 

in SagelKotter for himself, Green became a trustee for the benefit of The 

Sage Group's other members. See Guth, 5 A.2d at 510 ("The rule .,. 

inveterate and uncompromising ... extinguishes all possibility of profit 

flowing from a breach of the confidence imposed by the fiduciary 

relation. "). 

The arbitrator, however, was unable to award a complete remedy 

for Green's breach. Green and the other two members of SagelKotter, 

John Kotter and his wife, Nancy Dearman (collectively, the "Kotters"), 

2 



shut down SagelKotter and moved all of its assets and ongoing business to 

Kotter Associates, Inc. (now called Kotter International, Inc.) for no 

consideration. Because the Kotters and Kotter International could not be 

joined in the arbitration, the transfer "prevent[ ed] the formal imposition of 

a trust." CP 55; see also CP 59 (but for the transfer a "constructive trust 

could have been imposed"). 

The trial court ruled that the arbitrator's inability to impose a 

constructive trust in favor of the Wormans collaterally estopped all of the 

Appellants from obtaining any judicial remedy against the Kotters and 

Kotter International. This was error. Appellants are entitled to a complete 

remedy for Green's fiduciary breaches as a matter of law: 

[A] court of equity has jurisdiction to reach the property 
either in the hands of the original wrongdoer, or in the 
hands of any subsequent holder .... [T]hat a transferee was 
not the original wrongdoer does not insulate him from 
liability for restitution .... The constructive trust is based on 
the property, not wrongs. 

Harris Trust, 530 U.S. at 250-51 (citations and internal quotation marks 

omitted). The trial court's judgment should be reversed and the case 

remanded with instructions to impose a constructive trust in Appellants' 

favor based on the undisputed evidence more fully discussed below. 

3 



II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. The trial court erred in denying Appellants' motion for 

partial summary judgment for constructive trust. CP 1005-08, 1074-76. 

2. The trial court erred in denying Appellants' motions for 

partial summary judgment on successor liability, alter ego, and piercing 

the corporate veil claims. CP 1077-79. 

3. The trial court erred in denying, in part, Appellants' motion 

for partial summary judgment on Respondents' promissory estoppel and 

unjust enrichment claims and on Appellants' constructive trust claim. 

CP 1905-15, 1947-51. 

4. The trial court erred in granting Respondents' motion for 

summary judgment. CP 1905-15, 1947-51. 

5. The trial court erred in entering a final judgment dismissing 

Appellants' claims. CP 2093-96. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED 

I. Whether an arbitrator's inability to impose a constructive 

trust over, or to determine the value of, property transferred outside of the 

arbitrator's jurisdiction collaterally estops parties and non-parties to the 

arbitration from pursuing claims against the transferees, none of whom 

could be joined in the arbitration? (Assignments of Error Nos. 4-5.) 
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2. Whether a person who receives property knowing that it is 

subject to a pending legal claim and paying no consideration for it holds 

that property subject to a constructive trust? (Assignments of Error 

Nos. I, 3-5.) 

3. Whether a business that acquires, without consideration, 

substantially all of the assets of another business and provides the same 

services, to the same clients, under the same contracts, through the same 

employees, in the same office space, and using the same equipment as the 

predecessor business should be held liable for the predecessor's 

obligations as its successor? (Assignments of Error Nos. 2, 4-5.) 

IV. ST A TEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Background 

The Sage Group is a successful consulting firm that uses a 

proprietary methodology to help business owners identify their goals, 

develop a business strategy to reach those goals, and increase the value of 

their businesses. See CP 37-38, 49. Ron and Sally Worman have been 

members of The Sage Group since 2002. See id. Dana Green and his wife 

had an ownership interest in The Sage Group until 2010, when their 

interest was terminated in arbitration. See CP 37-38, 50. 

John Kotter is a Harvard Business School professor and author of 

an eight-step process to achieve change in large organizations. CP 1152, 
5 



1629-30. With his wife and business partner, Nancy Dearman, Kotter 

operated Kotter Associates, a public-speaking and book-publishing 

business based on his eight-step process. J See id. In 2007, Kotter 

Associates had revenues of $2,800,000. CP I 122, 1629. However, Kotter 

had a more ambitious goal: to impact millions of leaders worldwide. 

CP 6, 1603-04 (~ 3. I). Believing that The Sage Group could help Kotter 

reach that goal, Erik Van Alstine, the president of M3, Inc., on whose 

Board of Advisors Green sat, introduced Kotter to The Sage Group in fall 

2007. CP 264. 

On February I 1, 2008, Kotter and The Sage Group entered into a 

written consulting agreement. CP 65-68. Soon, they began to consider a 

new basis for their work together. In June, Kotter proposed creating a new 

business with The Sage Group: 

Let's agree to create a business. That means a new 
relationship. No consultant and client. All new revenue 
from joint activities is split by some formula. 

CP 259-61. Green, who was the "point person" responsible for 

Appellants' communications with the Kotters (see CP 264), agreed. 

CP 259-61. The parties memorialized their intent to create a new business 

I Kotter operated that business under the unincorporated trade name Kotter 
Associates and as a corporation called Kotter Associates, Inc. See CP 1602. Unless the 
context requires otherwise, the business is collectively referred to as "Kotter Associates." 
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together in numerous conversations and emails. See, e.g., CP 2071, 2076, 

2079-82. That business became SagelKotter, LLC. See CP 39. 

The Sage Group, Worman, and Van Alstine helped develop and 

structure SagelKotter. Van Alstine created business plans and pricing 

structures; analyzed the market and identified potential clients, such as 

Novell, Westinghouse, and the U.S. Army; designed branding and 

marketing materials; and prepared client proposals. CP 8-11, 37-38, 275, 

356-59. Worman developed market strategy and business plans and 

helped Green identify and retain the executive team, including Dennis 

Goin, Randy Ottinger, and Kathy Gersch-all of whom were hired by 

SagelKotter. See CP 1017, 1038-39, 1131, 1133, 1606, 1613. 

SagelKotter was registered as a Delaware limited liability company 

In late August 2008. CP 8, 1605 (,-r 3.12). In October, the Kotters 

proposed that they would own 51 percent of SagelKotter and "Dana and 

friends" (i.e. , Worman and Van Alstine) would own the remaining 

49 percent. CP 2051; see also CP 2055-56 (Worman's ownership interest 

must come out of Green's share). But in December, Worman received a 

proposed final version of the Operating Agreement, which gave the 

Kotters and Green 96 percent of SagelKotter as well as all voting and 

management rights; Worman would receive a 4 percent non-voting 
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interest; and Van Alstine would be completely excluded. See CP 1608, 

1635-36. Worman objected to these terms as inconsistent with The Sage 

Group's Operating Agreement and the parties' agreement. See id. Van 

Alstine also objected. CP 1264, 1636. 

The Kotters and Green executed SagelKotter's Operating 

Agreement in January 2009, over Worman's and Van Alstine's objections. 

CP 1173-1220. Green and the Kotters received 38 percent and 62 percent 

of the ownership interests, respectively. CP 1214. SagelKotter was 

immediately successful, generating more than $7,000,000 in revenues in 

2009-a threefold increase over the revenues the Kotters had generated 

independently a year earlier. CP 1122-23, 1600, 1638, 2449. Of that 

amount, approximately RUMC I [D 

REDACTI'D See CP 1966-67, 

2449. 

In April 2009, the Wormans commenced an arbitration against 

Green for breach of fiduciary duty pursuant to the arbitration provision in 

The Sage Group's Operating Agreement (the "Arbitration"). CP 271-312. 

They sought disgorgement of the salary Green received as SagelKotter's 

president and CEO as well as enforcement of a constructive trust over his 

38 percent ownership interest in SagelKotter. ld. The Kotters, Kotter 
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Associates, and SagelKotter could not be joined to the Arbitration because 

they were not parties to The Sage Group's Operating Agreement. 2 See 

CP 312. 

Unbeknownst to the Wormans, the Kotters actively assisted Green 

in the Arbitration. CP 320, 1610-11, 1877, 1892-94. The Kotters, Green, 

and their counsel discussed case background and strategy; the Kotters' 

counsel instructed Green's counsel about how to proceed in hearings 

before the Arbitrator; and SagelKotter paid more than $60,000 of Green's 

attorneys' fees and costs. See CP 1472-77, 1479-81,2004-26,2029-36, 

2062-67, 2070; see also CP 1270-80, 1480 (recognizing a common 

interest agreement between Green and the Kotters). 

In November, Green's counsel advised the Kotters and their 

counsel that "[0 ]nce an arbitrator is selected, then he or she will set forth 

the ground rules and deadlines for the dispute. It is at this point that we 

should be ready to spring into action with our strategies." CP 327 

(emphasis added). Soon after, Judge Robert Alsdorf (ret.) was named 

arbitrator and his first order, among other things, set a deadline to 

2 Van Alstine and M3 could not be joined to the Arbitration for that same 
reason. See CP 312. In December 2009, Van Alstine sued Green for breach of fiduciary 
duty. CP 335-410. Van Alstine's claims arose out of Green's agreement to serve on 
M3's Board of Advisors, fiduciary duties Green owed to Van Alstine and M3, and 
Green's agreement with Van Alstine and Worman to share equity equally. See CP 253, 
256-57,335-410. The action settled before trial in May 2011. 
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"complete lay-down discovery by December 23, 2009." CP 2029-36 

(emphasis omitted). A fier receiving a copy of that order, the Kotters took 

the position that Green could not produce any documents related to 

SagelKotter or its formation and threatened to dissolve SagelKotter if 

Appellants did not settle their claims by December 21. CP 267,474, 492, 

552-53, 2029-36, 2074. Green, who was a manager of SagelKotter, then 

took the position that he had "an obligation to not disclose any SagelKotter 

information without the consent of SagelKotter's managers." CP 267, 

741. He suggested to the Kotters dissolving SagelKotter to prevent a 

constructive trust: 

Section 9.5 [of SagelKotter's LLC Agreement] permits 
Class A and B members to purchase and transfer each 
others' units. However, doing this would not be in your 
clients' interests, because Mr. Worman or Mr. Van Alstine 
would surely join your clients in the arbitration/litigation 
to impose a constructive trust over Mr. Green's 38% 
ownership interest in SagelKotter. Ultimately, nothing in 
the LLC Agreement requires Mr. Green to forfeit his units 
absent dissolution of SagelKotter. For that reason, we 
believe the formal dissolution of SagelKotter ... is in the 
best interest of all of our clients. 

CP 2074 (emphasis added). 

On December 22, 2009, the Kotters announced that they had 

"voted and ... desire[d] to dissolve and wind up the affairs of 

[SageIKotter], pursuant to Section 12.2(a)(ii) of the Operating 

Agreement." CP 432-33, 435, 1618-19. The Kotters and Green then 
10 



transferred "substantially all of the business assets of SageJKotter" to 

Kotter International effective as of December 31,2009, under a Settlement 

Agreement and Mutual Releases (the "Settlement Agreement"). CP 1340-

41, 1346-66. The transfer included all of SageJKotter's ongoing contracts 

under which more than $5,852,500 remained to be paid. CP 1293, 1363, 

1366. It also included the proprietary process, intellectual property, and 

other assets that SageJKotter developed and used to perform those 

contracts. See CP 1968, 1979, 2474, 2479, 2487, 2508. And it included 

SageJKotter's physical assets, work force, business model, marketing plan, 

accounts receivable, goodwill, and "all other assets." CP 413-14,417-19, 

1341, 1366, 2474, 2487. The only asset not transferred was some of the 

cash-on-hand, which was distributed to the Kotters and Green. CP 1359. 

The Kotters and Kotter International paid no consideration to 

SageJKotter for its ongoing contracts (or any other asset) even though the 

contracts were REDACTED 

R[DACrED CP 1758, 1770, 1788, 2449. The same 

contracts became the "largest sources of revenue for Kotter International" 

(CP 1332, 1338)-increasing its revenue from RI:DAC I LD 

RI DAC II D CP 2536, 

2539; see also CP 1994 (Kotter International was "dormant" before the 
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transfer). The Kotters and Kotter International paid no consideration for 

Green's 38 percent ownership interest, which was "lost" as a result of the 

transfer. 3 CP 1545, 1792. The transfer was designed for the sole purpose 

of hindering Appellants' claims for a constructive trust. CP 1121, 1126, 

1223,1363. 

In August 2010, the Arbitrator found Green liable for "constructive 

fraud" and "substantial violations of fiduciary duty whose true nature was 

unduly obscured by spoliation of evidence and presentation incomplete 

and untrue testimony." CP 44,60. Under section 12 of The Sage Group's 

Operating Agreement and Washington common law, the remedy for 

Green's breaches was enforcement of a constructive trust over "any 

property, profit, or benefit derived by [him]," including the 38 percent 

ownership interest in SagelKotter. CP 37. 

However, the Arbitrator was unable to award this remedy to the 

Wormans. SagelKotter had been dissolved and stripped of all assets, and 

the Arbitrator had no jurisdiction over the Kotters or Kotter International. 

This "prevent[ ed] the formal imposition of a trust" over Green's interest. 

) Under the Settlement Agreement, Green received $31,250 in unpaid salary 
from SagelKotter (CP 1358); $129,639 for his share of some of SagelKotter's cash-on
hand (CP 1359); and $150,000 from the Kotters for a release of claims (CP 1349). There 
is no documentation showing that any of those amounts was for the 38 percent ownership 
interest. CP 1335-36, 1520. And there was no discussion of allocating any portion of 
those amounts as payment for the ownership interest. CP 1520. 
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CP 55; see also CP 59 (but for the transfer, a "constructive trust could 

have been imposed"). The transfer also prevented the Arbitrator from 

establishing the monetary value of Green's interest in SageJKotter, which 

was "speculative" based on the available evidence. CP 45-47, 59. The 

Arbitrator, however, ordered Green to disgorge one-half of the 

compensation he received as SageJKotter's president and CEO. CP 47-48. 

The Arbitration did not find that disgorgement provided the Wormans a 

complete remedy. See generally CP 36-52. Nor did the Arbitrator find 

that disgorgement and a constructive trust were mutually exclusive 

remedies. See id. 

B. Procedural Background 

In August 2011, the Wormans (and the other Appellants) filed the 

action below seeking the complete remedy they were prevented from 

obtaining in the Arbitration. CP 1-61, 538-43. Their claims against the 

Kotters and Kotter International were not, and could not have been, 

asserted in the Arbitration between the Wormans and Green. Compare 

CP 21-33 with CP 271-312; see also CP 56 (the claims in Arbitration 

"[a]1I focused on the conduct of Mr. Green"). 

In March 2013, Appellants moved for partial summary judgment 

on their claims for constructive trust, successor liability, and alter ego. 

CP 788-831, 962-74. Although the court correctly found that "[t]here is 
13 



no dispute of fact over Mr. Green's breaches of fiduciary duty" in 

acquiring the 38 percent interest in SagelKotter, it denied the constructive 

trust motion stating that "the value of the property, whether the Kotters 

paid fair value for the property, and whether they were unjustly enriched" 

were issues of fact. CP 1005-08, 1074-79. The trial court denied the 

successor liability and alter ego motions without comment. CP 1077-79. 

Respondents cross-moved for summary judgment, arguing that all 

of Appellants' claims were barred by collateral estoppel. CP 956-59, 

1547-76. On November 26, 2013, the trial court granted Respondents' 

motion and dismissed all of Appellants' claims. CP 1905-15, 1947-51. It 

reasoned that the "remedy issue to be decided here is identical to the issue 

that [the arbitrator] decided," and concluded that the Arbitrator's inability 

to impose a constructive trust in the Arbitration precluded a judicially 

imposed constructive trust over the ownership interest wrongfully 

transferred from Green to the Kotters. CP 1907-08. On January 21, 2014, 

the trial court entered a final judgment against Appellants, and this appeal 

followed. CP 2084-92, 2093-96. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard Of Review 

The Court reviews orders on summary judgment de novo, treating 

all facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the 
14 



nonmoving party. Enter. Leasing, Inc. v. City of Tacoma, 139 Wn.2d 546, 

551, 988 P.2d 961 (1999); see also Eagle Pac. Ins. Co. v. Christensen 

Motor Yacht Corp., 135 Wn.2d 894, 910, 959 P.2d 1052 (1998) (imposing 

successor liability); Venwesl Yachts, Inc. v. Schweickert, 142 Wn. App. 

886, 176 P.3d 577 (2008) (enforcing constructive trust) . 

B. The Arbitrator's Inability To Impose A Constructive Trust 
Does Not Preclude That Remedy In This Case 

Collateral estoppel prevents re-litigation of issues litigated and 

decided in a prior action. Shoemaker v. City of Bremerton, 109 Wn.2d 

504, 507-08, 745 P.2d 858 (1987). After initially correctly rejecting the 

argument that collateral estoppel barred Appellants' claims in this action, 

the trial court reversed course and dismissed all of their claims. CP 1905-

15, 1947-51. This was error. The issues relevant to the constructive trust 

claim before the trial court were neither "identical in all respects" to issues 

determined in Arbitration, nor were they "necessarily determined" in the 

Arbitration. Moreover, not all of the Appellants were party to, or in 

privity with a party to, the Arbitration. Because "failure to establish any 

one element is fatal to [a collateral estoppel] claim," the trial court's 

application of collateral estoppel should be reversed. LeMond v. Dep'l of 

Licensing, 143 Wn. App. 797, 805, 180 P.3d 829 (2008). 
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More fundamentally, the trial court erred in concluding that the 

Arbitrator's jurisdictional inability to award a complete remedy to the 

Wormans in the Arbitration precluded the Wormans and the other 

Appellants from asserting any claim against the Kotters and Kotter

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