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

15 As the trial court correctly ruled in denying Appellants' third motion for summary 
judgment, imposition ofa constructive trust "necessarily implies that there is property to 
protect." CP 1007. The same fact holds true with respect to Appellants' claims for 
successor, alter ego, and veil piercing liability, all of which tum upon the proposition that 
Appellants constitute "creditors" of Sag elK otter for the value of Green's interest. 
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Judge Alsdorf fully, finally, and necessarily resolved the issue. 

Indeed, while acknowledging "the time that was spent on an ultimately 

unsuccessful attempt to obtain a seven-figure award for a 50% share of 

[Green's] interest in SageIKotter," CP 1324,16 Judge Alsdorf determined 

that, due to the inherent structure (or "terminability") of the company, 

Green's "illusory" interest never had anything more than "nominal" value, 

CP 1310-11; CP 1323. On the basis of that finding, Judge Alsdorf 

categorically refused to award Appellants any amount of Equity Damages. 

CP 1309-11. 

Unable to refute these facts, Appellants fall back to arguing that 

Judge Alsdorfs ruling as to the value of Green's equity is a mere 

"evidentiary fact," not an "ultimate fact" giving rise to collateral estoppel. 

Appellants are wrong. An "ultimate fact" is one "directly at issue in the 

first controversy upon which the claim rests." Beagles v. Seattle-First 

Nat'! Bank, 25 Wn. App. 925, 930-31, 610 P.2d 962 (1980). The value of 

Green's equity interest was the central issue in the Alsdorf Arbitration and 

Appellants' claim for Equity Damages rested squarely upon it. !d. 

Because the trial court correctly concluded that the value of 

16 Judge Alsdorfs written order reflects that "perhaps ten percent or slightly more, was 
actually occupied in proof or counter-proof as to the specific seven-figure valuation range 
[Appellants] sought for their lost interest in SageIKotter." CP 1323-24. 
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Green's equity interest was actually litigated and finally and necessarily 

decided by Judge Alsdorf, the first element of collateral estoppel is easily 

satisfied. 

b. Judgment on the merits 

As the trial court noted in the Order, the parties "do not dispute 

that there was a judgment on the merits in the arbitration." CP 1906. 

As such, trial court's conclusion that the second element of collateral 

estoppel is satisfied is likewise correct. 

c. Privity 

Although only certain Appellants were named parties to the 

Alsdorf Arbitration, all Appellants agreed to share the costs and proceeds 

of their respective actions, were represented by the same counsel 

(who represents them once again in this action), and conducted robust and 

coordinated discovery across both matters. CP 3229-30. As the trial court 

noted, "[d]iscovery from one case was used in the other and pleadings in 

each referenced the other proceeding. In fact, Judge Alsdorf referenced 

the [State Court Action] discovery proceedings in his pretrial Arbitration 

Orders." CP 1907. 

Appellants cannot seriously dispute that they were either party to 

the Alsdorf Arbitration or in privity with parties to the Alsdorf Arbitration. 

See, e.g., Carson lnv. Co. v. Anaconda Copper Mining Co., 26 F.2d 651, 
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657 (9th Cir. 1928). The trial court's conclusion that the third element of 

collateral estoppel is satisfied is likewise correct. 

d. Full and fair hearing 

Finally, application of collateral estoppel will not work injustice 

upon anyone. It will merely give effect to conclusive findings of fact 

made years ago regarding an issue that Appellants aggressively litigated 

and lost - an outcome that resulted from proceedings in which they were 

afforded every procedural protection. While Appellants float several 

arguments as to why the Alsdorf Arbitration was not really full and fair, 

the trial court correctly rejected those arguments. This Court should do 

the same. 

(1) Green's alleged spoliation of evidence 

Appellants first argue that Green's alleged spoliation of evidence 

defeats application of collateral estoppel in this action. The trial court 

correctly rejected that argument, concluding that none of the evidence in 

question had anything to do with the conclusive findings of fact at issue 

here. CP 1911 ("[T]here is no argument that these documents are related 

to damages."). As the trial court recognized, Appellants cannot point to 

anything that would even arguably undermine Judge Alsdorfs findings 

regarding the inherent structure (or "terminability") of SagelKotter. 
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Jd.; CP 1310-11. Indeed, the facts underlying those findings were 

undisputed then and remain undisputed now. 

Because collateral estoppel is applied on an issue-by-issue basis, 

Clark, 150 Wn.2d at 913, and because the doctrine applies so long as there 

is a full and fair hearing "on the issue in question," id., Green's alleged 

spoliation of evidence regarding issues wholly unrelated to the inherent 

structure (or "terminability") of SagelKotter makes no difference to the 

Court's collateral estoppel analysis. !d. 

Appellants nevertheless argue that "[ w ]hen key evidence was 

omitted in the earlier action or where a party intends to offer evidence not 

previously offered ... , collateral estoppel does not apply." App. Br. at 

21. That argument turns the relevant case law squarely on its head. 

See supra at 25-27. A party does not get another bite at the apple simply 

because it "intends to offer evidence not previously offered." Such an 

approach would defeat the entire purpose of collateral estoppel, which is 

intended to prevent "the endless relitigation of issues already actually 

litigated by the parties and decided by a competent tribunal." Hadley v. 

Maxwell, 144 Wn.2d 306, 311, 27 P.3d 600, 602 (2001). 

But on a more fundamental level, the argument misses the central 

point of the trial court's ruling: Green's equity interest had no value due 

to the inherent structure (or "terminability") of SagelKotter. The trial 
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court explicitly found that none of the allegedly "new" evidence on which 

Appellants rely has anything to do with that issue, CP 1911, and even if it 

had, collateral estoppel would still apply because "[t]he Arbitration was 

procedurally fair," CP 1914. 

(2) Kotter's alleged effort to stymie discovery 

Appellants next claim that collateral estoppel cannot be applied 

because Kotter allegedly attempted to stymie discovery in the Alsdorf 

Arbitration. App. Br. at 22-23. That theory is, in a word, nonsense. 

Judge Alsdorf's explicit praise for Kotter and Dearman-and particularly 

what he found to be their high level of credibility-makes clear that he did 

not believe they contributed to Green's spoliation of evidence in any way, 

or that they somehow frustrated the arbitration. CP 1304. 

Moreover, Appellants concede that Kotter produced the 

information they claim Green withheld from discovery. CP 1046. 

Appellants do not explain how actions that had the purpose and effect of 

preserving Green's documents somehow had the effect of stymying 

discovery. In fact, Appellants concede that they were able to uncover 

Green's spoliation in the Alsdorf Arbitration only because Kotter took 

steps to preserve and produce the documents in question. See, e.g., 

CP 3243; CP 1046 (referring to "one of the many documents obtained 

only from SagelKotter, not Mr. Green"). 
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Moreover, as the trial court noted, Appellants filed two motions to 

compel SagelKotter into producing the documents in question. CP 1910, 

CP 3289 ,-r 2(i); CP 3369 ,-r 2. Those motions were denied, subject to 

reconsideration upon a showing of good cause, id.-a showing Appellants 

never even attempted to make. 

Because the "full and fair hearing" analysis concerns the 

availability of adequate procedures in the prior proceeding, Thompson, 

138 Wn.2d at 795-96, and because Appellants could have-and, in fact, 

did-move to compel documents they claimed to need from SagelKotter, 

their arguments regarding Kotter's alleged effort to stymie discovery make 

no difference to this Court's collateral estoppel analysis. Id. Indeed, as 

the trial court correctly determined, "[t]he Arbitration was procedurally 

fair." CP 1914. 

Moreover, as the trial court noted, to the extent Appellants believe 

they did not receive a full and fair hearing before Judge Alsdorf, their 

"remedy would be a CR 60(b) motion" to Judge Alsdorf. CP 1901, n.1; 

see also CP 3314-29; CP 3526-28. Of course, Appellants made no such 

motion. Appellants' failure to do so is not a basis for continuing to litigate 

the exact same issues in a new action against a new set of defendants years 

after the fact. 
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(3) "The arbitrator's inability to impose a 
constructive trust remedy" 

Finally, Appellants repeatedly mischaracterize the trial court's 

collateral estoppel analysis as being based upon "the arbitrator's inability 

to impose a constructive trust in favor of the Wormans." App. Br. at 3-4, 

15. The trial court's collateral estoppel analysis, however, had nothing to 

do with Judge Alsdorf's "inability to impose a constructive trust remedy." 

Instead, the trial court based its analysis upon "Judge Alsdorf's decision 

that the valuation of Green's business opportunity would have been no 

more than nominal." CP 1914. 

In other words, Judge Alsdorf concluded that there was no 

economic interest over which a constructive trust could have been 

imposed, or even upon which an award of damages could have been 

based. Appellants' problem was not Judge Alsdorf's alleged "inability to 

impose a constructive trust," but the fact that there was simply nothing to 

recover. 

* * * * 

Because the trial court correctly determined that all of the elements 

of collateral estoppel are satisfied, and because Appellants have done 

nothing to suggest otherwise, the trial court's dismissal of this action must 

be upheld. 
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C. Appellants Have Released Kotter From All of the Claims 
Asserted in This Action 

Although the trial court had no need to look beyond the collateral 

estoppel doctrine in dismissing this action, it easily could have reached the 

same conclusion on another equally compelling basis-namely, that 

Appellants have released Kotter from any and all claims. In the event the 

Court disagrees with the trial court's conclusion as to collateral estoppel 

(and it should not), this is an alternative ground for affirmance of the trial 

court's order. 

In connection with the dissolution of SagelKotter, Kotter and 

Green entered into a settlement agreement that not only paid Green 

$310,889 in exchange for "his" interest, but that also contains a broadly 

worded "mutual release" that indisputably covers the claims that 

Appellants now assert here. CP 1350-51. As Appellants conceded during 

the trial court proceedings, "[t]hat release applies equally to Plaintiffs as a 

matter oflaw." CP 1001-02. 17 

Because the mutual release indisputably covers any and all claims 

relating to SagelKotter, and because it "applies equally to Plaintiffs as a 

matter oflaw," Appellants have indisputably released all of the "claims" 

17 By its express terms, the mutual release applies with respect to Green and his 
"predecessors, successors, parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, assigns, heirs, agents, 
attorneys, directors, officers, employees, and shareholders." CP 1350 ~ 3.1. 
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they now attempt to assert in this action. As such, Appellants ' case must 

be dismissed in its entirety. See Vanderpool v. Grange Ins. Ass 'n, 

110 Wn.2d 483, 488, 756 P.2d Ill, 113 (1988) ("Releases are contracts 

and their construction is governed by the legal principles applicable to 

contracts. "). 

There is no reason why the Court should not enforce the terms of 

the mutual release . Having recovered their entire pro rata share of all 

money received in exchange for that mutual release, Appellants must 

abide by the terms thereof. Appellants' judicial admission that they are 

bound by the mutual release leaves no room for doubt. 

D. Worman and Van Alstine Settled Any SagelKotter-Related 
Claims Directly With Green 

Not only do Appellants admit that they are bound by the mutual 

release contained in the Settlement Agreement, but they are also 

foreclosed from suing Kotter for another reason: Prior to formation of 

SagelKotter, they settled any Kotter-related claims directly with Green. 

Indeed, Worman complained to Green that, by offering him "only" 

a four percent non-voting interest in the company, Green was improperly 

cutting him out of the deal. CP 2867 ~ 2. Rather than accepting the four 

percent interest offered to him by Green, Worman used the opportunity to 

negotiate an entirely different deal-namely, that Green would keep "his" 
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full 38 percent interest in SagelKotter in exchange for Worn1an assuming 

sole ownership of The Sage Group. Jd. 

Worman and Green agreed to that deal in December of2008-

prior to execution of the Operating Agreement-and Worman later 

memorialized it in writing. CP 2873 ~ 3. 

In fact, Worman was so eager to consummate the "value 

exchange" that he took the extraordinary step of drafting Green's 

resignation from The Sage Group for him, urging Green to sign and return 

the resignation letter immediately. CP 3022. Green did as requested, 

formally tendering his resignation to The Sage Group later that same day. 

CP 2870-71; CP 3295-97 ~~ 16_22. 18 Having "exchanged" any Kotter-

related claims for sole ownership of The Sage Group, Worman cannot 

maintain that he has indirect rights to Green's interest in SagelKotter. 

Claiming to have performed various Kotter-related services with 

the expectation that he too would be receiving a portion of Green's equity, 

Van Alstine likewise asked Green (not Kotter) to compensate him in some 

18 When asked about this transaction under oath, Worman claimed that, after tendering 
his resignation from The Sage Group, Green asked to be compensated for his interest 
therein, which in tum caused Worman to commence the arbitration against Green. 
ep 3028 at 217:2-22. But if Green breached a settlement agreement he reached with 
Worman, there is no set of circumstances under which Kotter would even arguably be 
liable for that alleged breach . That indisputable fact underscores the reality that Kotter 
never owed Appellants any duty. Appellants' complaints are, and always have been, 
against Green, their own agent. 
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other way. Green did so by arranging for SagelKotter to pay him a 

$30,000 retroactive consulting fee, which Van Alstine accepted without 

objection. CP 3013-14. Because Van Alstine settled any Kotter-related 

issues directly with Green, he too is foreclosed from claiming an indirect 

interest in SagelKotter. 

E. The Trial Court Correctly Denied Appellants' Motions for 
Summary Imposition of a Constructive Trust and Successor 
Liability 

Appellants not only ask this Court to reverse the trial court's 

collateral estoppel ruling, but also ask it to go one gigantic step further by 

summarily imposing a constructive trust (of apparently perpetual duration) 

over a 38 percent interest in Kotter International, and by summarily ruling 

that Kotter International is liable as a "successor" with respect to 

SagelKotter's alleged (and unidentified) "debts." The trial court correctly 

(and repeatedly) denied those requests, and this Court should do the same. 

1. Constructive trust 

This is Appellants' third request for summary imposition of a 

constructive trust. That request should be denied yet again because, as the 

trial court found, (a) disposition of Green's interest was the subject of a 

global settlement and dissolution that expressly took account of all assets, 

(b) Green received far more than "fair value" for his interest, (c) Kotter 

had an absolute right to dissolve SagelKotter and to use his intellectual 
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property as he saw fit, and (d) a constructive trust is not a cause of action, 

but an equitable remedy that can be summarily imposed only upon a 

showing of liability, and then only to those parties with clean hands. 

a. Green's interest in SagelKotter was liquidated 
for hundreds of thousands of dollars 

Contrary to Appellants' assertion, "Green's" interest in 

SagelKotter was not "transferred" to Kotter International- it was 

liquidated in accordance with the Settlement Agreement. In addition to a 

release of the significant claims against him, Green received several 

hundred thousand dollars for his interest, CP 1349; CP 1358-59, and 

Appellants subsequently recovered their pro rata share of those funds 

from Green, together with all other benefits that Green received in 

connection with SagelKotter, CP 1348-49; CP 1358-59. 

As such, unlike every case cited in Appellants' opening brief, the 

transaction at issue here was not intended to evade creditors, but instead 

had the effect of conveying an enormous windfall upon parties who could 

not, in any sense of the word, be considered "creditors" of SagelKotter. 

The primary case on which Appellants rely-Watumull v. Ettinger, 

39 Haw. 185 (1952), cited for the first time on appeal-only serves to 

underscore the point. Watumull involved a liquidating partner who, unlike 

Kotter, made "no effort" to account for "ninety-eight percent of the goods 
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of the partnership" and simply "transferred to himself and to his wife

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